## IN THE **SUPREME** COURT OF FLORIDA

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties are referred to **as** they stood in the trial court, the defendant, Omar Blanco, and the prosecution, State of Florida. References to the Record on Appeal are marked by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. An appendix is attached which contains five exhibits.

Your undersigned attorney appears **as** a specially appointed appellate public defender as a result of this court's order allowing the withdrawal of the Office of the Public Defender and instructing the trial court to appoint private counsel.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Omar Blanco was convicted of firstdegree murder and sentenced to death and both judgment and sentence were affirmed by this Court. *Blanco v. State*, 452 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1984), *cert. denied*, 469 U.S. 1181, 105 S.Ct. 940, 83 L. Ed.2d 953 (1985) A subsequent appeal to **this** court from a denial by the trial court of Omar Blanco's petition for post conviction relief under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 was likewise rejected as was Omar Blanco's accompanying petition for a writ of habeas corpus. *Blanco v. Wainwright* and *Blanco v. State*, 507 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1987).

Thereafter Omar Blanco filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the Federal District Court. *Blanco v. Dugger*, 691 F.Supp. *308* (S.D. Fla. 1988) An appeal from the district court ultimately resulted in Omar Blanco receiving sentencing relief from the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals on the ground of ineffectiveness of counsel at defendant's penalty phase proceeding. *Blanco v. Singletary*, 943 F.2d 1477 (11th Cir. 1991) Mr. Blanco's conviction **was** left undisturbed in both the federal district and circuit courts. *Blanco v. Dugger* and *Blanco v. Singletary*, *supra*.

Omar Blanco's second penalty phase proceeding commenced on April 18, 1994. (R 3384-3390; 3411-3413) The jury's recommendation was 10 to 2 for the death penalty. (R 3410)

On January 6, 1995, the trial court, for the second time, sentenced Omar Blanco to death. (R 2425-2433) The trial judge filed his sentencing order the same day. (R 3515-3522) (Ex.1, Appendix)

Timely notice of appeal followed. (R 3524) This brief is filed in support thereof.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### Pre-penalty Phase Proceedings:

In preparation for trial, defense counsel approached the trial judge regarding the assistance of an expert witness in the area of psychiatry. (R **49**) Defense counsel advised the court that he wished to retain a competent local psychiatrist who spoke Spanish inasmuch **as** Omar Bianco spoke no English. (R 3-11, 49) The trial judge requested the name of such an expert witness but indicated that he "did not want someone who is prodefense". (R 50) Counsel's search for such a Spanish speaking psychiatrist was without immediate success. (R 54)

In a subsequent hearing defense counsel advised the trial judge that he had located and spoken with Dr. Dorita Marina, a Spanish speaking psychologist from Hialeah, Florida, who had examined Omar Blanco some five years earlier in connection with defendant's post conviction relief proceedings. (R 61-62) Dr. Marina indicated to defense counsel that she had previously evaluated Mr. Blanco and analyzed the results of psychological tests administered to him. (R 62) **As** a result of counsel's representations and request, the trial judge ordered the appointment of Dr. Marina to assist the defense. (R 66; 2566) One of Dr. Marina's statements *to* defense counsel **was** her belief that Omar Blanco suffered from organic brain damage. (R 61-67)

At the same court proceeding the State adamantly opposed defendant's motion to perpetuate the testimony of various defense witnesses residing in Cuba by arguing they

could just **as** easily travel to the United States to testify. (R 71-75) Thereafter, defense counsel travelled to Cuba using the **guise** of a tourist visa because the Cuban government would not allow any entry **by** persons seeking to make inquiry for use in a United State's court proceeding. (R 121-126; 130-135; 149-153; 163) Travel to Cuba by representatives of the State Attorney's Office was denied by that government. Defense counsel's travel to Cuba was the only alternative available **as** the Cuban government refused to allow Omar Blanco's elderly parents to leave the country together for fear they would not return. (R 130-133)

In his trip to Cuba, defense counsel took possession of certain childhood hospital records for Omar Blanco. (R 168) Also obtained were two taped statements of defendant's family members that had to be taken in Spanish because the county provided interpreter who accompanied defense counsel to Cuba was arrested by Cuban authorities upon arrival on the island. (R 168; 598)

After returning from Cuba with the above mentioned documents, defense counsel provided them to Dr. Marina who, after reviewing them, advised counsel that a psychiatrist was essential in explaining various areas of Omar Blanco's mental health **as** she did not have the necessary medical background to do so. (R 198-199) Because the psychiatrist who assisted Dr. Marina in 1988 was not able to be found, defense counsel requested the appointment of Spanish speaking Dr. Ricardo Castillo, a Dade County psychiatrist, who had been suggested by Dr. Marina. (R 198, 212) After much wrangling, the trial court authorized Dr. Castillo to work on Omar Blanco's case for only ten hours. (R 208-217) The trial judge "wanted to save the taxpayers as much money" as he could. (R 217)

Subsequently, defense counsel came back to the trial court to report that Dr. Castillo refused to work in **Broward** County at the rates prescribed. (R 224-226; 2717-2718) In the interim time, however, defense counsel had contacted a second Spanish speaking psychiatrist practicing in Tampa who had the necessary credentials for the task at hand. (R 224) This psychiatrist, Dr. Antonio Gonzales, was at the time working with another Cuban born Spanish speaking defendant being represented by the Office of the Public Defender and he **was** willing to travel and work in Broward County on a daily rate basis. (R 224-225)

Because neither the court nor the county wanted to pay Dr. Gonzales' required professional fee, defense counsel was sent out to look for yet another Spanish speaking psychiatrist. (R 229-233) The trial court directed counsel to contact Dr. Joseph Lapeyra a Spanish speaking psychiatrist, who was employed **by** Broward County's Prison Health Services. (R 230-231) Itwas a concern of the trial judge that because he was so "frugal" when it came to spending taxpayer's money, that maybe he shouldn't preside over "these type of cases". (R 229)

The following day, defense counsel reported back to the court that he was unable to contact Dr. Lapeyra, the psychiatrist suggested by the trial judge. (R 242-243) Again, the next day, counsel reported back to the court **his** continued inability to contact Dr. Lapeyra. (R 249-250) **As** a result, the trial judge somehow later that day communicated the name of a psychiatrist, Dr. Richard Maulion, to defense counsel. This is evidenced by the colloquy between court and counsel the following day wherein defense counsel stated that he had spoken with Dr. Maulion, the psychiatrist given to him by the trial judge.

(R 258) Counsel further advised the court that **he** had given certain documents to Dr. Maulion and was waiting to hear back from him as to whether he **would** get involved with the case at the rates which the county was willing to pay. (R 258-261)

Six days later the issue of the defense retention of a psychiatrist was again broached. (R 269-270) Counsel indicated Dr. Maulion's willingness to work at the prescribed rates. (R 270-271) When asked if defense counsel was satisfied with Dr. Maulion, defense counsel stated that from all outward appearances (except for forensic experience), the psychiatrist appeared to have the tools to accomplish the task. (R 260;271) Dr. Maulion appeared to counsel to be qualified and was Spanish speaking. (R 271) The trial judge was happy to utilize Dr. Maulion because he would be less expensive then the psychiatrist from Tampa that counsel wished to employ. (R2750)

Accordingly, pursuant to appointment by the trial court, Dr. Maulion commenced assisting the defense in preparation of Omar Blanco's penalty phase proceeding. (R 2805)

## Penalty Phase Proceedings:

Thalia Vesos was the victim's niece and an eyewitness to the shooting death of her uncle, John Ryan. (R1282-1284) On the night of January 14, 1982, Ms. Vesos was in her bedroom reading when Omar Blanco appeared in her bedroom door holding a gun. (R 1287-1288) The defendant motioned her to be quiet and then cut her telephone line. (R 1289) Ms. Vesos was instructed to remain in bed as Omar Blanco spoke in broken English. (R 1290) When John Ryan suddenly appeared in the hallway outside Ms. Vesos'

bedroom he attempted to knock the firearm from defendant's hand which caused Omar Blanco to shoot John Ryan even as the victim fell an top of the teenage girl. (R 1290-1291)

**Ms. Vesos** identified a brown purse carried by Omar Blanco and her watch which had last been placed on a table in the dining area of the house. (R 1285-1286; 1292) Also identified was a pair of socks worn **by** the intruder. (R 1289;1293)

It appeared to Ms. Vesos that her uncle surprised Omar Blanco and the gunshots only commenced after Mr. Ryan attempted to slap the gun from Blanco's hand. (R 1301) The shooting happened instantaneously. (R 1322)

Thalia Vesos spoke at length about the case with State Attorney Michael Satz and his investigator Walter LaGraves. (R 1309) This was in an effort on the prosecutor's part to assist the witness in her testimony. (R 1309)

John Matheson was a City of Fort Lauderdale Police Department crime scene technician dispatched *to* process the house of Thalia Vesos following the shooting of John Ryan. (R 1323-1325) Photographs of the scene were shot and physical evidence was collected, including shell casings and projectiles. (R 1326-1329) **Also** taken into evidence **was** a men's leather purse which contained a wallet, keys, driver's license, social security card, food stamp and miscellaneous personal papers. (R 1338) The purse also contained Ms. Veso's watch. (R 1340) Technician Matheson later came into contact with Omar Blanco at the police department where the defendant's hands were swabbed with an absorption kit to determine the presence of gun shot residue. (R 1344-1348)

Curtis Price, a City of Fort Lauderdale Police Officer received a BOLO on his radio

and shortly thereafter he observed Omar Blanco peddling past him on a woman's bicycle. (R 1366-1368) Officer Price, **based** on this information, took defendant into custody and returned him to the scene of the shooting. (R 1369) Mr. Blanco had no identification or money on him and was found **less** than one and one-half miles from **Ms**. **Vesos' house.** (R 1369-1370) Omar Blanco had no firearm in his possession. (R 1369-1370) The defendant, who spoke no English, did not resist arrest or attempt to flee from the officer. (R 1372-1373)

Keen Garvin, a forensic pathologist, performed the autopsy on John Ryan, the named victim in the Indictment. (R 1389-1395; 2438-2439) Dr. Garvin indicated that the decedent was shot seven times which was the cause of death. (R 1402-1403) Eight photographs depicting those wounds were introduced over defense objection. (R 1396-1402) The gunshots started at the victim's chin and went down *to* **his** abdomen. (R 1403-1420) Death would have occurred within five minutes with **loss** of consciousness within two minutes. (R 1421-1422)

The decedent's bloody shirt was identified by Dr. Garvin and later used **as** an **aid** during ballistics testimony. (R 1422; 1447-1451) The order of the gunshots and their exact distance was unknown. (R 1427-1430) Also unknown was the exact location of the shooter and decedent at the time of the shooting. (R 1430-1432)

Firearm's expert Dennis grey testified that seven firearm casings were fired from the same auto loading pistol. (R 1438-1445) Five recovered projectiles were fired by the same .380 caliber handgun. (R 1445-1446) Gunpowder residue on the decedent's shirt indicated that the firearm was approximately thirty-six inches from the body when

discharged. (R1447-1451).

William Kinard, a forensic chemist with the United States Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms, testified that he used his atomic absorption spectrophotometer to detect the presence of gunpowder on swabs taken of Omar Blanco's hands. (R 1459-1475) The presence of this gunshot residue was consistent with a weapon being fired and held with both hands. (R 1475-1476) Conversely, gunshot residue is easily transferable. (R 1476-1481)

Finally, a certified copy of a 1981 judgment and conviction of Omar Blanco for armed robbery was entered into evidence as a stipulated court record. (R 1282) This concluded the state's case during the penalty phase. (R 1486) In total, the state's presentation consisted of forty-two physical exhibits through the testimony of six witnesses, all of which went directly to the actual commission of the crime and the guilt of Omar Blanco. (R 3384-3389)

On the defense side of the penalty phase proceeding, the initial witness was Alicia Oliva, a cousin of Omar Blanco who grew up with him in Cuba. (R 1562-1564) Ms. Oliva, a psychologist by training, lived in Havana while Omar Blanco lived in the rural province of Matanzas. (R 1564-1565) Omar Blanco resided on a farm which had neither plumbing nor electricity. The defendant's parents, Zenaida Albarez and Horacio Blanco, had told their niece of the complications surrounding Omar Blanco's birth wherein he experienced a lack of oxygen. (R 1565-1566) **As** a child, Omar Blanco, suffered seizures where he would fall to the floor, swallow his tongue and gasp for air. (R 1566)

In adolescence, Omar Blanco continued to exhibit convulsions and abnormalities

that caused his parents to take him for treatment at the Psychiatric Hospital in Havana, known **as** Hospital Mazzorra. (R 1566-1567; 1579-1580) Omar Blanco made periodic visits to the psychiatric hospital where he was given medication. (R 1567-1568) Alicia Oliva was familiar with the various trips made by the Blancos from their rural home for the defendant's psychiatric care because the family would come to her house in Havana. (R 1567)

Since Alicia Oliva was approximately the **same** age as Omar Blanco she was familiar with both his childhood and early adult life. (R 1565, 1568, 1572) At age sixteen, the defendant was required to enter the military which caused him great emotional difficulty at being separated from his parents. (R 1568-1569) At times when home on pass, Omar Blanco would stay an extra day for which he would be punished upon his return. (R 1569)

**Ms.** Oliva described Omar Blanco as a studious individual who practiced the Jehovah's Witness religion, a religion not permitted in Cuba because of its member's refusal to swear to the Cuban flag or sing the Cuban National Anthem. (R 1569-1570) Because he was viewed as a political dissident, the Blancos' home was searched, the family threatened and their Bible destroyed. (R 1570) Omar Blanco's religious beliefs, including his refusal to **possess** a weapon, caused him to be viewed **as** a rebel within the military which in turn caused him to be persecuted. (R 1571) Mr. Blanco was denied military leave to visit his family and was, on occasion, sent to the sugarcane fields in Camaquay Province, for a six month stint cutting sugarcane. (R 1571-1572)

Despite his psychological problems, Omar Blanco was very close with his family throughout his life. (R 1572) Since he was a child, Omar Blanco worked on his parent's

small farm, plowing fields with the use of a bull and assisting in the subsequent planting. (R 1572-1573)

While visiting Omar Blanco in jail, he complained to his cousin about continued headaches and exhibited abnormal color. (R 1573) Psychiatric problems were prevalent in defendant's family, having been suffered by Omar Blanco's mother, grandmother and aunt. (R 1573-1574)

Alicia Oliva further described Omar Blanco **as** a person with human worth and value, a person who was kind to his family and neighbors, and a person who worried about the health of his grandparents. (R 1574) Omar Blanco was well liked and always associated with persons of adequate conduct. (R 1574) The defendant always conducted himself appropriately. (R 1574)

Omar Blanco left Cuba when **he** was thirty years of age. (R 1572) He did so for the reason all Cubans want to leave Cuba - to find freedom. (R 1575) He left behind a son to which he was a good and loving father. (R 1503-1504) Since coming to the United States, he married Santa Cosme. (R 1578-1579)

Omar Blanco was further described as an individual of normal intelligence, a good baseball player, and a writer of decent poetry. (R 1581-1582) Nevertheless, he still exhibited symptoms of psychiatric problems. (R 1583)

Gonsalvo Rodriquez-Blanco, also a cousin, was born in Arabos, Matanzas, Cuba, the same place as Omar Blanco. (R 1586-1589) Although Mr. Rodriquez-Blanco later moved to Havana, approximately 250 kilometers away, he visited Omar Blanco and the remaining family several times each year. (R 1590) Gonsalvo Rodriquez-Blanco

at the psychiatric hospital located only a few blocks from his Havana house. (R 1589-1590) The witness **also** told of Omar Blanco's difficulty in the Cuban military which was the result of his practice of a religion not on the government's registration of approved religions. (R 1590-1591) **As** a result of the defendant's religious beliefs, his home was raided, his religious gatherings broken up, and his Bible destroyed. (R 1590-1591) **As** a child, Omar Blanco labored on the family farm and later in town at a dairy. (R 1592)

Omar Blanco's parents continue to reside on their small family farm in **Los** Arabos where they were visited by Gonsalvo Rodriguez-Blanco and defense counsel in March 1993 for the purpose of obtaining their tape recorded statements. (R 1592-1593) The trip from Havana to the Blanco farm in Mr. Rodriquez-Blanco's automobile took approximately six hours each way. (R 1593-1594) Because defense counsel **had** to leave Cuba the following day, time was limited in his effort to collect information in connection with the circumstances of Omar Blanco's childhood. (R 1593-1595)

The house where Omar Blanco grew up was a wooden structure without plumbing or electricity. (R 1595) It was later disassembled and physically moved so that defendant's parents could avail themselves of water and electricity. (R 1596)

Omar Blanco was a well liked boy who encountered difficulties with the authorities only because of his religious beliefs. (R 1597) The defendant **was** described as a family oriented person who was extremely kind. (R 1597) His marriage in Cuba resulted in a son. (R 1598)

In the military, Omar Blanco studied nursing. (R 1599-1600) He was a decent

baseball player. (R 1600-1601)

Caridade Padron was born and raised in the same region in Cuba **as** was Omar Blanco. (R **1601-1602**) Their respective families were close and each father made his living planting sugarcane. (R **1602-1603**)

As a child, Omar Blanco suffered from seizures which **Ms.** Padron had occasion to observe when visiting the Blanco home. (R 1603) These seizures **could last** for hours. (R 1603) Caridad Padron was herself a practicing Jehovah's Witness who was imprisoned for three months by Cuban authorities for doing **so.** (R 1603-1604) Omar Blanco was part of her religious study group and he too was taken as a prisoner for his illicite religious beliefs. (R 1604-1605)

Ms. Padron described Omar Blanco as a helpful family member who not only worked but was a good boy. (R 1605) The defendant was of normal intelligence but did suffer from epileptic seizures. (R 1608) These convulsions included classic signs of an epileptic seizure - rigidity in the extremities and the rolling back of the eyes. (R 1608-1610) The witness knew of Omar Blanco's military service and nursing study. (R 1608)

Marta Benejas also grew up in the Matanzas, **Los** Arabos region of Cuba where she knew Omar Blanco since they were children. (R **1610-161**I) Her family, like the Blanco's, worked the ground for a living. (R **161**1-1612) During their childhood she had occasion to observe Omar Blanco suffer seizures where he would spit through his mouth and fall to the floor. (R **1612**)

**Ms.** Benejas spoke of her friendship with the defendant and how she cared for him like a brother. (R **1615**) Growing up, Omar Blanco was a friendly person who studied the

Bible and who, at one point, was taken into custody by the authorities because of his religious beliefs. (R 1615)

Jeraldo Luis Herrera had known Omar Blanco since the two were little boys growing up in Los Arabos. (R 1619-1621) Both of their fathers worked on the farm. (R 1621) Mr. Herrera witnessed Omar Blanco sufferconvulsions where he would fall to the floor and look as if he was going to die. (R 1621) Omar Blanco was taken to a local clinic near Los Arabos many times as well as the hospital in Havana. (R 1621)

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