# FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 16 1996

CLE	RK, SUPREME COURT
Ву	_ ''
	Ciner Deputy Clerk

OMAR BLANCO,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 85,118

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - Appellant was not entitled to a psychiatrist of his choice, nor was he entitled to a court-appointed psychiatrist with unlimited funding. The trial court appointed a psychiatrist, a neuropsychologist, a psychologist, a neurologist, and a sociologist at the county's expense. Because Dr. Maulion was not a persuasive witness does not mean that he was constitutionally ineffective. Nor can such a claim be proven on the face of the record. Rather, such a claim is more appropriately raised in a motion for postconviction relief.

Issue II - There was no evidence to support an instruction on the mitigating factor that Appellant acted under the influence of extreme duress or substantial domination. The victim's attempts to protect himself and his niece by struggling with Appellant did not support such an instruction.

Issue III - The trial court noted the original jury's death recommendation only as a fact in Appellant's procedural history; it did not rely upon same in determining Appellant's sentence. Nor did it give undue weight to the resentencing jury's recommendation. The written sentencing order shows that the trial court understood and performed its duty to independently weight the evidence.

Issue IV - The trial court considered evidence of Appellant's impoverished background in mitigation and accorded it 'little

weight." Appellant's sentence should not be vacated because Appellant believes the trial court should have accorded it more weight.

Issue V - Appellant's sentence of death is proportionate to sentences in other cases under similar facts.

Issue VI - This Court has repeatedly found that the "felony murder" aggravating factor does not constitute an "automatic" aggravator. Appellant has presented nothing to undermine this Court's previous rulings.

Issue VII - This Court has repeatedly held that electrocution is not cruel and unusual punishment. Appellant has presented nothing to undermine this Court's previous rulings.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO THE MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT OF HIS CHOICE AND WHETHER HIS APPOINTED EXPERT WAS COMPETENT (Restated).

At his original trial, Appellant presented no mental health testimony for mitigation purposes. During his state postconviction proceedings, however, he presented the report of Dr. Fernando Melendez, a psychologist who opined that Appellant "suffers from organic brain damage and falls into the dull-normal range of intelligence"; and the testimony of Felix Masud-Piloto and Juan Clark, sociologists "who reviewed, at length, Cuban immigration to the United States and the negative public perception of Mariel refugees." Blanco v. Wainwrisht, 507 So. 2d 1377, 1381-83 (Fla. 1987). During his federal postconviction proceedings, he presented the testimony of Dr. Harry Krop, a clinical psychologist, and Dr. Dorita Marina, a clinical psychologist and psychoanalyst. Blanco v. Dugger, 691 F.Supp. 308, 324-25 (S.D.Fla. 1988), aff'd, 943 F.2d 1477 (11th Cir. 1991).

At Appellant's resentencing, defense counsel moved for the appointment of a confidential mental health expert, which was granted at a later hearing. Defense counsel was supposed to inform the State of his chosen expert and submit a proposed order. (R 2504-05; T 49-50). At a status conference three weeks later,

defense counsel indicated that he was trying to locate Dr. Melendez, who had evaluated Appellant during postconviction proceedings, (T 54).Six weeks later, at another status conference, defense counsel indicated that, although he had found Melendez, he had spoken with Dr. Dorita Marina, the evaluated Appellant psychologist who had during federal postconviction proceedings. He wanted Dr. Marina appointed as the confidential expert but, because of the county's fee structure, he asked the court to set a \$1,000 cap on Dr. Marina's services and appoint a neurologist for testing. The trial court granted the motion. (R 2539-44, 2545-50, 2565, 2566;  $\mathbf{T}$  61-67).

Nine months later, defense counsel moved for the appointment of Dr. Anastasio Castiello, a psychiatrist; and Dr. Glenn Caddy, a psychologist. (R 2628-30). Counsel explained at a hearing that Dr. Marina had suggested a psychiatrist in order to interpret her findings and explain Appellant's potential for rehabilitation to the jury. (T 198-99). He wanted Dr. Caddy to explain the differences in mental health treatment between prisoners on death row and prisoners in general population so that counsel could argue that Appellant would get better treatment and could be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Defense counsel also sought the appointment of the sociologist who had testified during the postconviction proceedings regarding Appellant's difficulties as a Muriel refugee. Though skeptical of its relevance, the trial court granted this motion as well. (R 2551-52, 2564; T 67-71).

rehabilitated if serving a life sentence. (T 199-200). The State objected to the appointment of Dr. Caddy, because Appellant had already been appointed a psychologist, Dr. Marina, who could testify to the same. (T 200-01). It did not object to the appointment of Dr. Castiello, to the extent he was going to interpret Dr. Marina's test results; otherwise, the defense should find and use Dr, Melendez who had already evaluated Appellant. (T 208-10). Defense counsel indicated that he wanted Dr. Castiello to interpret test results, but objected to any fee cap. (T 212-14). The trial court agreed that Dr. Castiello should be given enough time to perform a competent evaluation, but refused to give him a "blank check." It suggested an initial cap of ten hours with leave for counsel to request more. (T 216-17). The written order appointing Dr. Castiello set an initial limit at \$1,500. (R 2632).

One month later, defense counsel indicated that Dr. Castiello declined the appointment because he did not want to work outside of Dade County, especially under Broward County's fee schedule. (T 224, 226). He further indicated that Dr. Arturo Gonzales would evaluate Appellant, but demanded \$2,000 per day. (R 2717-18; T 224-25). The county attorney objected to the flat fee, but intimated that his office would not appeal an order authorizing \$100 per hour for the evaluation, instead of \$50 per hour as indicated in the fee schedule. (T 229-30). At that point, defense

counsel sought any suggestions he could get on a Spanish-speaking psychiatrist: "Judge, I'm in a posture now where I'm taking any suggestions I can get, like I said." (T 230). In response, the trial court suggested a Dr. Lapeyra from Prison Health Services, and defense counsel agreed to contact him. (T 230-31).

Within the next two weeks, defense counsel informed the court that Dr. Lapeyra was not available, but that he had contacted Dr. Maulion. (T 242-45, 249-50, 258). Dr. Maulion had indicated that he charged \$275 per hour for the evaluation and \$1,000 per day to testify. Counsel gave him Dr, Melendez' postconviction testimony to review. (T 258-59). He did not know if Dr. Maulion had done forensic work, but noted, "I don't think it's that involved really where he has to do some extensive evaluation." (T 260).

A week later, defense counsel indicated that Dr. Maulion had agreed to evaluate Appellant. Based on what the county attorney had said at the prior hearing, counsel informed the doctor that the county would pay between \$100 and \$150 per hour. When asked by the trial court whether he was satisfied with Dr. Maulion, defense counsel stated, 'Yes, sir. He seems to be qualified. He is Spanish speaking. He seems to have all of the tools, at least, to be able to accomplish what we're seeking." (T 271). The trial court appointed Dr. Maulion on August 10, 1993. (R 2805).

A month later, defense counsel indicated that he got a preliminary report from Dr. Maulion and stated, "I've seen his works [sic]. He seems to be more than acceptable. He is doing an excellent job." (T 427). Defense counsel also indicated that Dr. Maulion wanted extensive neurological testing, so Dr. Donald Rose, a neuropsychologist, was appointed, with an initial cap of \$1,500. (R 2865; T 427). Dr. Rose, however, refused to perform the testing for \$50 per hour, so the trial court authorized \$100 per hour, and the county agreed not to fight it. (R 2887-88, 2890; T 445-48). Three days later, the trial court entered an order appointing Dr. Lee Bukstel to perform a neuropsychological evaluation for \$50 per hour with an initial cap of \$1,500. (R 2891). The reason for the substitution is not apparent from the record.

During the resentencing, Appellant called Dr. Maulion and Dr. Bukstel on his behalf. (T 1761-1875, 1893-2187). He chose not to call Dr. Marina or Dr. Clark, the sociologist. Though Dr. Maulion was impeached by the State on several points, defense counsel defended Dr. Maulion's evaluation techniques in closing argument: Dr. Maulion was appointed for a very limited purpose--to look at the materials and test results and determine whether Appellant exhibited indicia of organic brain damage. He found that he did, and opined that Appellant met the elements of the two statutory mental mitigators, Thus, the fact that he only met with Appellant

for an hour was irrelevant because he principally based his opinions on other things. (T 2358-61).

At the final sentencing hearing, however, defense counsel complained about Dr. Maulion's testimony: "I felt like he was really not a forceful witness for the defense . . . ." (T 2419).

"[Ala an expert I think [he] gave the jury the appearance he was the least of the experts in the case." (T 2420). He also complained about the fee structuring system and how unfair it was to indigent defendants. (T 2420-21). When the trial court commented that "[t]here was no complaints at all up to the testimony" (T 2421), defense counsel agreed, and noted that his complaints were all in retrospect, but faulted Dr. Maulion's lack of experience in testifying, and the lack of Spanish-speaking psychiatrists in general. (T 2421-22).

In this appeal, Appellant frames the issue as follows:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW DEFENSE COUNSEL TO RETAIN A MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT OF HIS CHOICE; THE PSYCHIATRIST ASSIGNED BY THE COURT TO ASSIST OMAR BLANCO WAS INEFFECTIVE AND INCOMPETENT AS A FORENSIC MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT.

Brief of Appellant at 39. After complaining that he was precluded from engaging experts of his choice, and that he "was required to utilize . . . a psychiatrist chosen by the trial court," <u>id.</u> at 42, Appellant concedes that 'he had no constitutional right to choose

a psychiatrist of his personal liking or to receive funds to hire his own," id. at 44. Thus, as framed, the first part of his issue concededly has no legal support.

The law is well-settled that indigent defendants do not have the right to an expert of their choice. Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 83 (1985). Nor are they entitled to a court-appointed expert with unlimited funding. See § 914.06, Fla. Stat. (1993) ("In a criminal case when the state or an indigent defendant requires the services of an expert witness whose opinion is relevant to the issues of the case, the court shall award reasonable compensation to the expert witness that shall be taxed and paid by the county as costs in the same manners as other costs."). Nor are they entitled to a favorable psychiatric opinion. Medina v. Singletary, 59 F.3d 1095, 1107 (11th Cir. 1995).

Here, the trial court allowed defense counsel to choose not only the psychiatrist of his choice, but it allowed counsel to choose a psychologist, a neuropsychologist, a neurologist, and a sociologist of his choice. His chosen psychiatrists simply refused to work under the county's fee schedule, and the trial court refused to write a 'blank check." Given that there are finite resources from which all indigent defendants can apply for assistance in their defense, such a decision was well within the trial court's discretion. See Martin v. State, 455 So. 2d 370,

371-72 (Fla. 1984) ("The appointment of experts is discretionary.
§ 914.06, Fla. Stat. (1983). The test for overturning a trial court ruling on appointing an expert is whether there has been an abuse of discretion."). See also Burch v. State, 522 So. 2d 810, 812 (Fla. 1988) (finding no abuse of discretion for refusal to appoint expensive expert on PCP where local experts were qualified); Ake, 470 U.S. at 77 ("[This] Court has not held that a State must purchase for the indigent defendant all the assistance that his wealthier counterpart might buy . . . ").

The second part of Appellant's claim must be analyzed closely. At one point it is stated as follows: "Because Dr. Maulion turned out to be ineffective almost to the point of appearing totally incompetent in the field of psychiatry, Omar Blanco was denied due process of law . . . ." Id. at 42. To the extent Appellant claims that Dr. Maulion was, in fact, incompetent, as opposed to merely "ineffective almost to the point of appearing incompetent," the State submits this Court cannot determine from this record whether such a claim is true. The extent of the witness' evaluation, the extent of the materials provided to him, the nature of his testimony, etc., are so closely related to trial strategy and the competence of trial counsel that this claim is more properly presented in a motion for postconviction relief. Defense counsel, who is different from appellate counsel, undoubtedly guided, if not

determined, the scope of Dr. Maulion's evaluation and could have affected the quality of it as well. This is simply not the proper forum to determine Dr. Maulion's competency, especially given trial counsel's post-trial general complaints as to the doctor's persuasiveness as a witness. Cf. McKinney v. State, 579 So. 2d 80, 82 (Fla. 1991) (citation omitted) ("Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are generally not reviewable on direct appeal but are more properly raised in a motion for postconviction relief. The trial court is the more appropriate forum to present such claims where evidence might be necessary to explain why certain actions were taken or omitted by counsel."); Owen v. State, 560 So. 2d 207, 212 (Fla. 1990) (stating that ineffectiveness claims can only be raised on direct appeal "under rare circumstances" where issue has been preserved and is apparent on face of record).

Be that as it may, the pith of Appellant's complaint is really that Dr. Maulion was unpersuasive—that he failed to produce the intended effect of persuading the jury to recommend life. After all, as noted, defense counsel's complaints at the final sentencing hearing were that Dr. Maulion 'was really not a forceful witness for the defense . . . ." (T 2419). However, as the trial court noted, defense counsel was happy with Dr. Maulion's work up until Dr. Maulion actually testified. He even stated as much at a pretrial hearing. (T 427). In fact, at no time prior to trial did

counsel complain that Dr. Maulion was not performing his function as an expert witness. Moreover, he ultimately made the decision to present Dr. Maulion's testimony—even though he knew that his testimony would conflict with that of Dr. Bukstel! And once the State impeached Dr. Maulion and argued the conflicts between the two doctors' opinions, defense counsel had geven days before the end of the trial to complain to the trial court. Or he could have raised the issue five and a half months later at the allocution hearing. Instead, he waited eight months, until the final sentencing hearing, to present his complaint. Even then, his complaints were not that the doctor did not perform a competent evaluation. Rather, they were that Dr. Maulion was not a persuasive witness. (T 2419-22).

Only now, on appeal, with a different attorney than that at trial, does Appellant claim that Dr. Maulion performed an incompetent evaluation (or almost appeared incompetent). However, there is a vast difference between a witness' competence and his or her effectiveness or persuasiveness. Simply because the State was able to impeach Dr. Maulion's testimony does not mean that he performed an incompetent evaluation. As defense counsel explained to the jury, Dr. Maulion was appointed for a very limited purposeto evaluate all of the other experts' test results and analyses, and relate those to the jury in medical terms. Appellant had a

neuropsychologist, a neurologist, and a psychologist appointed to perform the psychological and neurological testing. According to defense counsel when he requested the appointment of a psychiatrist, all the doctor was supposed to do was to relate the findings to the jury. Thus, the fact that Dr. Maulion only spent an hour with Appellant and/or could not even identify him in the courtroom is of minor importance. He was not appointed to evaluate Appellant personally. He was appointed to interpret test results and explain them to the jury.

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